BUCKTAIL LETTER AND HUBLER MEMOIRS

July 12,1862-Camp near Harrison’s Landing

Dear Father,

It is some time since I wrote to you, or received a letter form you, but I now tell you the reason I did not write sooner was I wanted to hear from the boys that were taken prisoners. But I can hear nothing. I suppose you heard that we were all taken: but we were not. Eight of us were excused from picket duty and that is the reason we escaped. I will tell you how they were taken: Three companies out of our regiment were ordered out to skirmish; Company K (ours) was the farthest in the woods and was surrounded; Company D was next to them and they had hard scratching to escape. The major was in command, and was with Company D, and made a narrow escape also.

But he made it by running his mare into a swamp halfway up her sides, leaving his mare there to die. She was in so deep that he could not get to his holsters; he also lost a boot. He came across a secesh cavalry horse and mounted it and rode into camp and ordered us to fall into rifles pits and give them hell when they came to get ourselves. we all fell into the pits, but Company K was not there. The adjutant said that he would go and see if he could find them, but before he got out of sight we saw the enemy coming in the woods till they looked blush with them. Then our batteries began playing on them and we were ordered to hold our fire till they came close enough.

There was a swamp between them and us, so they had but one place to cross at, unless they went up on our right. They had to cross single file. They came up on a charge thinking to take our battery. We did not fire a shot till they came up within 100 yards of us, then we gave them what the Major told us to give them. We piled them up by the hundreds making a perfect bridge across the swamp. So it went on till 10 o’clock at night. I did not get hurt except for a piece of shell that hit a tree and glanced down in the pit hit me across the toes, smashing one of them. If it had hit a little further back it would have smashed my foot. Then the Adjutant came a long and got wounded in the head badly.

The next morning our troops had to retreat. What was left our regiment was ordered to hold the ground or rather to cover the retreat. There was 84 thousand of them against the Pennsylvania Reserves. The right wing of our regiment did not hear the order to retreat and the Rebels crossed the swamp above and came in and captured Company E-the colour company, together with the beautiful flag with “Dranesville” inscribed upon it-also one platoon of Company D, and four of the eight members left of Company K, to wit: William Henry, William Williams, William Humphreys, and Thomas Conklin, taken or killed. This left four of us to fight our way through, to wit: William Addleman, Manning Dunn, Cortez Bloom, and myself. Brother Isaiah was taken with the rest of the boys. Tell mother not to fret for him for he is safe, and I expect he will soon be paroled, when he can go home and you can se him and hear what he has to say.

Well I must go and tell you about the next day’s fight. We marched till non, halting at a pretty good place, where we stopped to give them a taste of Yankee blood. they came up in awful force against our little squad. We fought till almost dark. Reinforcements did not reach us by two hours as soon as they should have done; and the secesh had fresh troops to put in every hour. But we had none and had to stick to it till we were done out and overpowered by the enemy. they had the woods and we had the open field. They drove us back and here came very near being panic among our teams and troops. Had it not been for the Irish Brigade coming up just there would have been an awful slaughter. But they gave three cheers for the Union and went in on a charge, and drove back at the point of bayonet. We lost our brave General Reynolds here, who was wounded and taken prisoner. He was a brave and good officer.

Our loss was heavy, there’s was much heavier. The four of us of Company K were all safe; we came out to fight without a scratch. We all fell back two miles that night and rested the next day. Here, old Simmons, Colonel of the Fifth Regiment, took command as Brigadier General. When night came we got orders to march. the little squad of Bucktails were called up in line to take the lead. We marched to daylight, the road being so shut up with teams and wagons we could hardly get along. We got breakfast, when we marched till noon; than stopped till night, when we went on picket duty and remained all night. Then we went to a field and layed there till about 11 o’clock when the enemy appeared and we had to get our little squad ready for action.

Our Cannon soon commenced playing on them. One rebel regiment came up, when our Fifth was ordered to charge, which they did, and took nearly one regiment prisoners. We were then ordered to go over and assist, which we did. We thought the secesh were all gone, and were lying down on a small hill when a brigade of the enemy came up out of the woods unexpectedly and poured in volley after volley until we were ordered to retreat back to the woods, and we had to get up right among the bullets. The air was blue with them. I saw 20 of our boys fall there less than a minute.

I stopped behind the first tree I came to and thought I would fight a little on my own hook. I fired 18 rounds at them when they were not more than 150 yards from me. I made some of them bite the dust. Two of them started to take me prisoner. I did not see them until they came up, when I shot one of them. The other ordered me to give up and throw down my gun, but I put a cartridge down it when he drew up to shoot. I told him not to shoot, I would give up; and as he was coming up I put a cap on my gun and still held at the hip; when I let the rammer fall to the ground he was no more than five steps from me. I did not sight the gun, but pulled the trigger. He jumped about two feet high and hollowed “My God I’m shot and fell to the ground dead. I then saw them coming up over the hill and had to skedaddle. It was getting dark and I felt the field. Cortez Bloom was wounded in the foot so there was but three of us left.

It is very lonesome, and I was home. I am cook at the hospital. I like it. We have plenty to eat. Nothing more at present. I don’t know whether you can read this letter, for I am tired and it is written in a hurry. Tell sister Margery that I will write to her soon. I wrote to you to send me some postage stamps. Did you get the letter? Direct where you did. Good-bye. From Your son.

Enos Bloom
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<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>First Sergeant Simon Hubler Company I, 143rd Regiment, was 

mustered into service September 20, 1862, promoted from Corporal to 

Sergeant Jan. 2, 1865, to 1st Sergeant Apr 15, 1865, commissioned 2d 

Lieutenant, June 1, 1865, mustered out with company June 12, 1865.1

SIMON HUBLER AT THE BATTLE OF GETTYSBURG<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>We were lying at White Oak Church, south of Falmouth, Virginia, when we received orders to march.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>We did not know where we were going, but our course took us to Bealton Station, thence along the Orange & Alexandria Railroad in a northerly direction, and presently we arrived at Berlin's Ford, near Harpers Ferry, where we crossed the Potomac river.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>We crossed the Potomac about June 27th. After crossing the river we proceeded to Middletown, Maryland. We arrived at this place 

on Sunday.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Guards were thrown out, as was the custom, and it happened 

that the women and girls who were coming from Sunday School, which 

was held in one of the churches of the town, were compelled to pass 

by Charley Wilson, one of the guards. Wilson told them they could not 

pass. They became very much alarmed and began to cry, whereupon 

Wilson told them they could pass if they gave him a kiss. This each 

one did, and were allowed to pass by the guards.<BR><BR><p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>At this place two young women came among the soldiers and 

announced that if any of the soldiers had any letters that they 

desired to be sent that they should give the letters to them and they 

would be stamped and mailed. They gathered a large supply of letters, 

nearly all of which were unstamped, and so far as it is known every 

letter was mailed to its destination.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>On the following day (Monday) we began our march again, and 

arrived at Emmitsburg on June 30, 1863. There we went into camp. 

During the forenoon of the next day we heard the booming of the 

cannon in the distance. We did not know what it meant nor where it 

was.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>During the morning I left my regiment for a little while and 

went out foraging. When I returned, the regiment, and in fact, the 

entire brigade had disappeared. I found my gun and blanket where I 

had placed them, and immediately picked them up and hurried on in the 

direction which the brigade had taken.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>It seems that a courier had come during my absence with 

"hurry" orders, and the boys were on their way toward Gettysburg. It 

seems that we had camped at Emmitsburg over night on June 30th, and 

it was on July 1st when the regiment received its "hurry" orders, and 

we heard the booming of the cannon.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>About noon on July 1st we were coming into Gettysburg on the 

Emmitsburg Road when suddenly we were directed to strike to the left 

of the town across the fields.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>By this time there was a lively fight on over beyond the town 

near the Theological Seminary between Buford's Calvary and the 

Confederate forces, the same being composed of Hill's corps. We 

hurried on in the direction of the fighting and went into position. 

Before arriving at the place where we went into position we were 

ordered to unsling our knapsacks. This we did, piling them in a heap, 

and left a guard to take care of them. We saw nothing further of 

these knapsacks until after the battle when we discovered that they 

had been filled with sand by the Rebels and had been used by them as 

a breastwork.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>We went into position near MacPherson's Barn, our right 

resting near the barn and our left extending toward Reynold's Grove. 

Immediately in front of us were the 149th and 150th Pennsylvania 

Volunteers, and we were not allowed to fire for fear of injuring our 

own troops, although the mini-balls were falling among us with 

uncomfortable frequency.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>While we were standing in line near the barn a bullet struck 

Jacob Yale above the eye, and he dropped at my feet, striking against 

my leg. This was the first man killed out of Company "I" 143d 

Pennsylvania Volunteers. When he dropped the orderly directed the 

line to close up, and this the men did with serious faces. He was the 

first of many to fall on that fateful day.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Presently orders came to move by the right flank, and we were 

hurried toward the Chambersburg Pike.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>At a farm house which stood near the barn there was a deep 

well from which the water was taken by means of a well sweep. The 

boys were making rather good use of this well, when an officer cut 

the rope allowing the bucket to fall to the bottom. His purpose was 

evidently to prevent the men from indulging too freely in the cold 

water in their overheated condition.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>It was at this farm house where John Shafer of my Company ran 

into the cellar and brought out a large crock of sour milk. He took 

it into the wagon shed near by and he and his fellow soldiers 

proceeded to dip their hands into the milk and to drink it in  that 

manner.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>While we were consuming the milk a shell passed through the 

roof of the shed, whereupon John Shafer remarked that "We had better 

hurry up because the d--n fools have our range, and might hurt 

somebody."<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>After leaving the shed and passing through the barn yard a 

shell struck among the straw and manure, its progress through the 

muck being apparent for a considerable distance. One of the soldiers 

seeing it shouted, "See the d--n thing go." After leaving the 

barnyard we hurried on and joined the balance of the regiment in the 

Chambersburg Pike, where they had taken position. It was now about 

three o'clock in the afternoon.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Presently we were ordered to fire. We saw no enemy, except 

men at a very great distance. However, I fired with the rest, 

according to orders, and proceeded to put the powder from two 

cartridges into my gun, and rammed a ball down on the double charge. 

I then raised the sight to 900 yards and fired at some rebels whom I 

saw away off on the hill, probably a mile distant.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>After I had fired this shot I saw the enemy much nearer at 

hand. They were coming out of the railroad cut and were charging our 

position. We fired into their ranks and drove them back.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>They repeated the charge and we drove them back into the cut 

a second time. They then charged the third time, and we succeeded in 

driving them back again.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>About the time the third charge was made, Josiah Wolf of my 

company said, "Corporal, I have two charges in my gun and I'm afraid 

to shoot them out." I said, "All right, give it to me." I took the 

gun and fired it. The recoil was terrific. I handed the piece to Wolf 

and told him that if he got more than one charge in again that he 

would have to fire it himself. I am of the opinion that he had five 

or six charges in, instead of two.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Soon the order came to fall back. This we did in somewhat 

broken order. As we fell back toward the town of Gettysburg, from the 

Chambersburg Pike, the Rebels followed.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>It was in the field between the Chambersburg Pike and 

Gettysburg where Crippen our color bearer fell, defying the enemy. 

When the colors went down we were directed to charge back to meet the 

Rebels, who were charging for the colors.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>They gave back before our charge and we seized the colors and 

continued our retreat until we reached the Lutheran Theological 

Seminary. As we were passing this point the captain of a battery 

stationed there shouted, "My G-d boys, save my guns."<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>We placed ourselves between and around the guns and directed 

a fire of musketry into the advancing Confederate line.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>The artillery men worked heroically. One of the guns grew so 

hot that one man would hold a piece of leather over the vent while 

another would ram home the charge. As soon as he would remove his 

thumb from the vent the charge would be exploded.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>It was here, although I did not see it, that a Rebel came up 

to one of the guns of this battery, which I afterwards ascertained to 

be the Second Maine Battery, laid his hand on a gun and said, "This 

gun is mine."<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>The artillery man replied, "D--n you, take it then," pulled 

the lanyard and blew the Rebel into pieces.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Between the efforts of the battery and our own efforts, the 

charge of the Rebels upon the battery was repulsed, and we continued 

our retreat.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Near the entrance to the town of Gettysburg our regiment 

became pretty well broken up, and I presently found myself alone.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I hurried on toward town and passed a number of soldiers 

sheltered behind a huge heap of oyster shells. The bullets were going 

into these shells with a zipping sound, and I remarked to the men who 

were sheltering themselves there that they had better be careful or 

they would be captured. That was the last time I saw them, so I do 

not know whether they were captured or not.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I struck off to the right and presently found myself on the 

Baltimore Pike in the midst of the town of Gettysburg.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Before reaching the Baltimore Pike, however, I passed through 

one or two smaller streets, and while passing down one of these 

streets a party of Rebels came down a side street and saw me and a 

man belonging to the 6th Wisconsin, and a third boy whom I cannot 

place, hurrying along together.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>When we saw [the Rebels] we started to run, whereupon they 

shouted, "Halt, you Yankee sons of b------." We did not halt and they 

immediately fired.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>One of the balls cut through my hair just above my left ear, 

and struck the man from the 6th Wisconsin, a big, tall, man, in the 

back of the head. It cracked like a pistol shot.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>He fell sprawling in the street. I looked down and saw his 

brains oozing out, and then stepped over him and hurried along.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>The next instant another ball struck my cartridge box, cut 

leather of the short cap of the box nearly through lengthwise. I 

thought to myself, "I have been shot in the hip," but I could still 

run and proceeded to do so.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Let be understood that I was fired upon by the Rebels as we 

crossed the intersection of the side street with the street on which 

we were running.<BR><BR>

        <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b> A little further down I saw a man come out between two houses 

with a cup of water. On seeing this I hurried back between the houses 

to get a drink for myself.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>When I got behind the house I saw a Rebel standing behind the 

garden fence taking aim at one of our men. I thought, "If only I had 

a load in my gun you wouldn't shoot our boys."<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>However, as I glanced a little to the right of the man who 

was taking aim I saw a second Rebel ramming home a charge in his gun, 

and looking at me with a most ferocious look. I did not stop for a 

drink of water, but hurriedly ran out the same way I had come in, 

into the street.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Then I started right up the street, and had only gone a short 

distance when a charge of canister came crashing along the street. 

Some of the charge evidently struck some wounded who were in a 

passing ambulance because I heard them scream.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I hurried along the Baltimore Pike fast as I could, and was 

passing a barn in the outskirts of the town when I heard someone 

shout, "Oh, Hubler!" The shout came from the interior of the barn.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I turned and entered one of the doors and found Sidney 

Telley, of my company, lying in one of the cow stalls severely 

wounded in the arm. I took him out of the cow stall and helped him 

into another part of the barn where I cleaned him up to some extent, 

then took my large red silk handkerchief and bound up his wounded 

arm. It seems that the bullet had entered near the left wrist and 

lodged near the left elbow.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>When I entered the barn Telley shouted, "I dreamed last night 

that they shot me in the right arm, and here today the sons of b----s 

have shot me in the left arm!"<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I found a comfortable place for him to lie down, gave him one 

half of the water in my canteen to drink, and left the balance of the 

water beside him.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Then, leaving Telley, I went over to where a new recruit from 

New York State, belonging to a New York battery, had thrown his 

knapsack, and proceeded to go through the knapsack. The New Yorker 

was evidently skulking in another portion of the barn, and did not 

see what was happening to his knapsack. I found a quantity of writing 

paper, some tobacco and some other trinkets.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I took some of the writing paper and all of the tobacco, 

leaving the other things in the knapsack, with the exception of an 

artillery jacket, which I appropriated. I removed the red stripes 

from the jacket and slipped it on over my blouse. There were a few 

other soldiers on the lower floor of the barn, so I took the writing 

paper and tobacco up to the next floor and hid the articles in the 

windmill.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I stayed with Telley in the barn all night and in the morning 

12 men belonging to the 55th Ohio entered the barn for the purpose of 

sharp-shooting. The mini-balls were striking the barn at frequent 

intervals. The first thing these fellows did was to find and take my 

writing paper and tobacco, which I had hid, and then they proceeded 

to open fire on the enemy.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>During the night twelve pound cannon were frequently sending 

shells from our lines in the direction of the enemy. Every time a 12 

pounder was fired Telley would shout, 'My G-d, that's a big one. Do 

you think they'll shell the barn?' I assured him they would not.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Along about eight or nine o'clock in the morning I looked out 

of an aperture between the beam of the barn and the wall supporting 

the barn, and saw two Confederates running along the post and rail 

fence about 250 yards distant. I took deliberate aim at one of the 

men who was running, and fired. The man at whom I aimed fell forward 

on his face, while the other one hurried away as fast as he could 

run. I do not know whether I killed this man or not, because there 

were others shooting at the same time.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>These incidents happened on the morning of July 2, 1863.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>The Lieutenant in command of the detail of 12 men from the 

55th Ohio wanted someone to take a note up to his commanding office, 

who was located with the regiment behind a stone wall about 350 yards 

distant from the barn where we were sheltered. The men who were under 

the Lieutenant hesitated about taking the note, and I volunteered to 

take it.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I took the note and ran in a zig-zag fashion toward the wall 

where the 55th Ohio regiment was stationed. When I reached the wall I 

walked along in front of it for some distance, when someone shouted, 

'Say you Pennsylvanian, you had better jump over here or you'll get 

plugged.'<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>During my run the bullets had sung uncomfortably near, so I 

hastily followed the advice which was given me and jumped over behind 

the wall. I inquired where the commander of the regiment was, 

whereupon a major spoke up and said, 'Here I am.'<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I thereupon handed him the note. Evidently the note contained 

a request for more men because the major immediately detailed a squad 

of 12 more men, and inquired of me how they would find their way to 

the proper place.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I told him that I was going to the barn because I had a 

wounded comrade there. I told the detail to follow me and sprang over 

the wall, and running in a zig-zag fashion we all safely reached the 

barn.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I told Telley when I returned that he should get ready to go 

with me as I was going to take him up to our lines and find a 

surgeon. I took Telley by the arm and led him out to the end of the 

wall.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>There I said to him, 'Telley, if you ever run in your life, I 

want you to run now.' He said he would run. I took him by the hand 

and we started out in the open. He ran a short distance, but I was 

compelled to frequently pull him along. He was weak from loss of 

blood and had but little run in him.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>We stopped behind a wagon shed and took our breath. I told 

Telley that if he didn't run better from that place on that I would 

drop him, and they would shoot him to pieces. He said, 'By G-d, I'll 

run,' and this time he did run.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I took him up to the wall and took him over the wall where 

the 55th Ohio was stationed.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Then I took him on until I found some surgeons operating, and 

said, 'Here is a man who needs your attention.' I watched them remove 

the bullet from Telley's arm and after it was taken out I hurried 

away to join my regiment again.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I found my regiment lying behind the cemetery.

         I removed my artillery jacket and the boys called my 

attention to the fact that there were three bullet holes in my blouse.

         A little after noon General Doubleday shouted in his deep, 

heavy voice, 'Fall in guards, fall in.' We formed into line 

immediately and started on the double quick toward the left center 

where the Rebels had captured a battery.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>With the assistance of some troops that came in from the left 

we recaptured this battery, and drove the Rebels back across the 

field.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I did not see the hand to hand fight, but was told that some 

of the Union troops clubbed their muskets over the heads of the 

Confederates in the fight.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>After we had recaptured the battery we took position directly 

in front of it, which position we maintained the rest of the day, the 

following night and during the third day.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I distinctly heard the noise of terrific fighting out toward 

the center, where the right at the Peach Orchard was taking place.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>During the night of the 2d I heard someone cry for water out 

in front of our position. The boys told me I'd get plugged, but I 

took the risk and proceeded with a canteen of water out in front of 

the line in the direction of the cry.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Presently I came across the object of my search, and found 

him to be a Confederate soldier mortally wounded. I gave him all the 

water that I had in my canteen.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>He asked who I was, and I told him I belonged to the 

Pennsylvania Bucktail Brigade, whereupon he remarked that even though 

I was a Yank I had a good heart.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>The next morning our skirmishers found him dead.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>During the night there was intermittent firing, but the real 

music did not begin until early in the morning when a roar from the 

extreme right told us of the fight the 12th Corps were making to 

regain their trenches on Culp's Hill, which had been occupied by the 

Confederates in their absence the evening previous.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>We occupied a part of the morning in raising a slight 

protection of sand, earth and rails against the bullets of the enemy. 

There was very little fighting, and comparatively little excitement 

until about one o'clock in the afternoon. We heard the firing of the 

skirmishers from time to time, but little if any cannonading.

The following part was dictated October 17, 1912.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Suddenly a cannon roared over on our left and then another 

boom sounded from the right. Immediately all the Confederate 

batteries in our front opened fire and the famous cannonade of the 

third days fight had begun. Our batteries answered the fire of the 

Rebels and the noise was terrific.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>After the cannonade had continued for some time I happened to 

look toward the left, over back of Round Top, where I saw some troops 

coming. I remarked, "Boys, here come reinforcements."<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Someone said, 'They are coming too fast for reinforcements.' 

Presently they got a little nearer and we discovered that it was our 

reserve artillery coming to take position.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Just at our rear there was a 12 pound brass battery which had 

been silenced by the fire of the Confederates. One gun had been 

knocked down and two caissons had been blown up. The reserve 

artillery came on and a ten pound steel battery swung into the 

position which the silenced battery had occupied. They immediately 

opened fire on the Rebel battery which had taken position within 1500 

yards of our lines.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>This battery was probably the nearest of the enemy's 

batteries, and up to this time had been doing effective work for 

them. In less than 20 minutes after the steel battery had taken 

position and opened fire, the opposing Confederate battery had been 

silenced.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>The artillery fire from our batteries slackened until only 

here and there a gun boomed defiance to the enemy.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I was looking toward the lines of the enemy when I suddenly 

saw a line of Confederates advance over a rise in the ground. I said, 

'Hello, boys, here comes a charge.' The Confederates came on as 

though on dress parade, directly toward our position.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Our artillery had opened fire, and men were dropping fast out 

of the Confederate lines. When they came within about 600 yards we 

directed two or three volleys of musketry into them and almost at the 

same time they filed obliquely toward the left and soon struck our 

lines to the right of our position.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>The din was awful. We could see the fighting only 

indistinctly because of obstructions in the way, and because of 

obstructions in the way, and because of the powder smoke.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>We soon saw small bodies of Confederates retreating, and then 

larger masses which hurried back, broken and disorganized.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>During the bombardment, preceding the charge, a man crawled 

up and stated that a shell had struck a man in Company D of our 

Regiment, taking off his head just above the ears, and scattering his 

brain over seven other soldiers. A man by the name of Stair in my 

Company looked up and asked if it killed him. The boys roared with 

laughter and called him a d----d fool for asking such a foolish 

question.<BR><BR><p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>

         Picket's charge was over about four o'clock in the afternoon 

and during the remaining hours of daylight the firing was desultory.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>We maintained the position we had occupied during the day, 

during the night of July 3 sleeping on our arms. We remained where we 

were until the following afternoon when orders came to fall in.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>We started toward South Mountain after Lee who was retreating 

toward Virginia. We did not catch Lee, however, and he escaped across 

the Potomac and back into Virginia, where we were destined to fight 

with him again in the Wilderness, at Weldon Railroad and at 

Petersburg and other places.<BR><BR>

<hr>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Afterword<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>First Sergeant Simon Hubler Company I, 143rd Regiment, was 

mustered into service September 20, 1862, promoted from Corporal to 

Sergeant Jan. 2, 1865, to 1st Sergeant Apr 15, 1865, commissioned 2d 

Lieutenant, June 1, 1865, mustered out with company June 12, 1865.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>This manuscript was written Aug. 5, 1912, when Simon Hubler, 

M.D. was 68 years old. At that time Dr. Hubler lived in Dunmore, 

[Scranton] Pa. and his only child Harry was a lawyer in the same 

town. Marcia Wilson, ggrandaughter of Simon Hubler, granddaughter of 

Harry Hubler, found this typed manuscript in a photograph album 

belonging to the late Louise Gibson Heffernan, a foster daughter 

[actually a niece] of Harry Hubler who had worked as secretary in his 

Scranton Pa law office in the 1940's and 50's).<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>This narrative was originally published in the New York Times 

on June 29, 1913, in a column by Robert L. Brake. My great 

grandfather, Dr. Simon Hubler, had died two months previously in 

Scranton on April 24, 1913. He was 69 years old. He was survived by 

his wife, Julia Bird Hubler, his only child, Attorney Harry Clark 

Hubler, his two grandchildren, Katharine Margaret Hubler and 

Richard Gibson Hubler.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I used to have two pocket watches belonging to my great 

grandfather Simon Hubler, one gold and one silver. My mother asked me 

to give them to her, saying she was afraid I would sell them. Shortly 

before she died, my mother sold the pocket watches, along with Simon 

Hubler's Civil War Hat and fix bayonet, to an antique dealer.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>I used to have a post war reunion medal that belonged to 

my great grandfather. The medal was round, copper and attached to 

striped ribbons hanging from a copper bar. One side of the medal 

showed a Civil War soldier holding a flag and shaking his fist. The 

other side said, "Stood like a band of iron amidst the surging masses 

of the enemy. Doubleday."<BR><BR>

<hr>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>An article in the History of the Pennsylvania Volunteers by Samuel P. 

Bates describes the role of the 143rd Regiment in the Battle of 

Gettysburg:<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>A month later the corps started on the Gettysburg campaign, 

and was the first to reach the field of action. It had bivouacked on 

the night of the 30th at a point on Marsh Creek, about four miles 

from the town of Gettysburg. On the morning of the 1st of July it 

moved forward and soon the sound of artillery was heard, the cavalry 

under Buford engaging the enemy's advance.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>At a little before noon the brigade went into position upon a 

ridge beyond that on which the Theological Seminary stands, under a 

heavy fire, the One Hundred and Forty-third forming on the line of 

railroad. Early in the action General Reynolds was killed, and 

Colonels Stone and Wister were wounded.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>The command of the brigade then devolved on Colonel Dana, 

that of the regiment on Lieutenant Colonel Musser. A terrific fire of 

infantry and artillery was brought to bear on the position, but it 

was manfully held, though the dead and wounded on every hand told at 

what a fearful cost.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Repeated charges were made with ever fresh troops, but each 

was repulsed with fearful slaughter. Finally the enemy succeeded in 

flanking the position, and the line was pressed back a short 

distance, but made a stand in a field a little back from the first 

railroad cut.<BR><BR>

<p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>Later in the afternoon the brigade was forced to retire to a 

position near the Seminary. When this movement became necessary-- the 

Union force being vastly outnumbered, and the command for it had been 

given-- the color bearer of the regiment and many of the men could 

with difficulty be made to face to the rear, seeming determined to 

die rather than yield the ground. In executing this movement the 

color bearer, Benjamin H. Crippen, Sergeant company E, was among the 

last to move and was killed in the act, still clinging to his 

standard.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>This incident is thus recorded by an English officer, who was 

at the time with the enemy, in an article in Blackwood's Magazine .6 

"General Hill," he says, " soon came up...Said he had two of his 

divisions engaged, and had driven the enemy four miles into his 

present position, capturing a great many prisoners, some cannon, and 

some colors. He said, however, that the Yankees had fought with a 

determination unusual to them. He pointed out a railway cutting in 

which they had made a good stand; also a field in the centre of which 

he had seen a man plant the regimental colors, round which the enemy 

had fought for some time with much obstinacy, and when at last it was 

obliged to retreat, the color bearer retired last of all, turning 

round every now and then to shake his fist at the advancing rebels. 

General Hill said he felt quite sorry  when he had seen this gallant 

Yankee  meet his doom."<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>The flag was rescued and brought safely off. When all hope of 

longer holding the position was gone, the brigade fell back through 

the town and took position on Cemetery Hill, where the shattered 

ranks of the two corps which had been engaged were re-formed.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>On the morning of the 2nd, artillery and picket firing opened 

early, but was light on the immediate front occupied by the brigade. 

In the afternoon a heavy attack was made upon the left of the line 

where Sickles' Corps stood, and the brigade was ordered over to its 

support. The movement was executed under a heavy fire of shells, from 

which some loss was sustained, and a position taken on the left 

centre in open ground, where it rested for the night and threw up 

works, the ground being lowest of any part of the whole line.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>At four o'clock on the morning of the 3rd, a heavy artillery 

fire was opened which extended along the right of the line, and at 

one P.M., the enemy opened with all his guns enveloping the whole 

Union front, the shells and solid shot ploughing the fields in every 

direction.  Later in the afternoon the enemy made his last grand 

infantry charge upon the left centre, the strength of which fell a 

little to right of the position where the regiment lay.<BR><BR>

         <p><FONT SIZE="2">&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;&nbsp;<b>This charge, though made in great force, and pressed with 

singular obstinacy, was completely repulsed, and the enemy fell back 

not again to renew the battle. The regiment entered this engagement 

with 465 men, rank and file. Of these, the killed and missing in 

action, supposed to be killed, was 47, and the wounded and prisoners 

were 205, an aggregate loss of 252, more than half of its entire 

strength. Lieutenants Charles W. Betzenberger, and Lee D. Groover, 

were among the killed, and Lyman R. Nicholson mortally wounded.<BR><BR>

<hr>
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GETTYSBURG CIVILIAN AND BUCKTAIL

The citizens of Gettysburg were hardly ready for a battle to occur on their doorsteps. This busy town had not seen such excitement as they did on June 30 when Union cavalry rode through the streets to establish a line west of town that evening. Everywhere the residents buzzed with news and rumors. 

Salome "Sallie" Myers was a 21-year old school teacher who wrote, "It was early in June that we had the first reports that the rebels were coming. The suspense was dreadful. Day after day the people did little but stand along the streets in groups and talk." The next morning, July 1, she sat on her doorstep listening to the sounds of battle echoing from the west: 

"At 10 o'clock that morning I saw the first blood. A horse was led past our house covered with blood. The sight sickened me. Then three men came up the street. The middle one could barely walk. His head had been hastily bandaged and blood was visible. I grew faint with horror. I had never been able to stand the sight of blood, but I was destined to become used to it."
Taking to the cellar of her home, she and her family listened to the sounds of battle above.
"We knelt, shivering, and prayed. The noise above our heads and from the distance, the rattle of musketry, the screeching of shells, and the unearthly cries, mingled with the sobbing of the children shook our hearts. Three soldiers crept down into the cellar... and we concealed and fed them. Before 6 o'clock the firing ceased and we came up from the cellar. They had begun bringing wounded and injured into town. The Catholic and Presbyterian churches, a few doors east of my father's home were taken possession of as hospitals. Dr. James Fulton (143rd Pennsylvania Volunteers) did splendid work getting things in shape. From that time on we had no rest for weeks. 'Girls,' Dr. Fulton said, ' you must come up to the churches and help us- the boys are suffering terribly!' I went to the Catholic church. On pews and floors men lay, the groans of the suffering and dying were heartrending. I knelt beside the first man near the door and asked what I could do. 'Nothing,' he replied, 'I am going to die.' I went outside the church and cried. I returned and spoke to the man- he was wounded in the lungs and spine, and there was not the slightest hope for him. The man was Sgt. Alexander Stewart of the 149th Pennsylvania Volunteers. I read a chapter of the Bible to him, it was the last chapter his father had read before he left home. The wounded man died on Monday, July 6."
Sallie Myers continued to care for patients at the church and those brought into her home until they could be removed to Camp Letterman, the large Union field hospital on the York Road east of Gettysburg. "These were bitter days," she recalled in 1909, "but memories of them are softened when one considers the friendships that were made."

As it turned out, all of Gettysburg's churches and many houses became hospitals when the fighting began in earnest on July 1. Christ Lutheran Church on Chambersburg Street was one of the first buildings opened for wounded and Union surgeons immediately set about by designating an operating area while assistants lay boards over the pews to accommodate the wounded. It was not long before the first wounded arrived, battered and bloody. Forty-one year old Mary McAllister, who lived with the John Scott family on Chambersburg Street and operated a small store across the street from Christ Lutheran Church, had just that morning handed out cups of water to Union soldiers as they raced down Chambersburg Street toward the battle. Now she saw many of these same men staggering back up the street toward the town. She had already assisted one wounded officer into the Scott house where she lived when a neighbor suggested they go over to the church to assist the growing number of wounded there. She was about to get the shock of her life:

"I gathered up sheets and water and Mrs. Weikert and I went to the church and we went to work. They carried the wounded in there as fast as they could. We took the cushions off the seats and some officers came in and said, 'Lay them in the aisles.' Then we did all we could for the wounded men. After a while they carried in an awfully wounded one. He was a fine officer. They did not know who he was. I never knew who he was but he died. Well, I went to doing what they told me to do, wetting cloths and putting them on the wounds and helping. Every pew was full; some sitting, some lying, some leaning on others. They cut off the legs and the arms and threw them out of the windows. Every morning the dead were laid on the platform in a sheet or blanket and carried away. There was a boy with seven of his fingers near off. He said, 'Lady, would you do something for me?' The surgeon came along and he said, 'What is the use doing anything for them?' and he just took his knife and cut off the fingers and they dropped. Well, I was so sorry.

"A man sat in a pew and he was young and white (pale from shock). He said, 'Lady, come here. Do you know if there is a Mason in town?' I said, 'Yes, there is one Harper, a printer, but he has left town and I know no other.'
"'Oh!' he said, 'If only I could get to him!' But I was too scared. The church was full and just then a shell hit the roof and they got scared, and I was scared. I wanted to go home. I looked around for Mrs. Weikert. They said, 'They are going to shell the church!' Well, they begged me not to go, but I went out and there the high church steps were full of wounded men and they begged me not to try to cross the street. Our men were retreating up the street. Many wounded ones who could walk carried the worst wounded ones on their backs. I said, 'Oh, I want to go home.' So they let me go at last. I struggled through the wounded and the dead and forgot the horror in the fright. I was as far up as Buehler's drug store before I got across the street and got home. When I came to the door it was standing open and the step was covered with blood. I could hardly get through for the dining room was full of soldiers, some lying, some standing. Some ran in to get out of the shooting. The rebels were sending grapeshot down the street and everyone who was on the street had to get into the houses or be killed and that is the way some of these Union men got into our house
As Mary McAllister administered to the wounded in her home, the attention of Union surgeons at the church remained to administer to their lot of wounded. The church steps were crowded with men who waited for attention while inside, the doctors continued their grisly task. Charles McCurdy, a Gettysburg resident who lived nearby, walked to the church and was shocked at what he saw. The church was filled with wounded- "Surgeons were at work under very crude conditions. The Church yard was strewn with arms and legs that had been amputated and thrown out of the windows." Victorious Confederates did not interrupt the surgeons, but a guard was placed at the entry while homes were searched for Union men desperately hiding to avoid capture. 

By the evening of July 1, 1863, the town of Gettysburg had become one large hospital for hundreds of wounded soldiers, packed into churches, the school, and private homes. War and its grim horror had invaded the very homes of the residents of Gettysburg, as blood stained the floors and furniture and amputated limbs piled up outside of church operating rooms. It was a grim reality that would last for weeks to come and one that the citizens of the town would have to face for the rest of their lives. One can only imagine what kind of courage it took for these ordinary people to face a disaster of this magnitude.

CAPTAIN JAMES POST COMPANY F 149th
2056. James B. POST <d2567.htm> (7236) <fowsrc.htm> was born on Feb 15 1835. (7237) <fowsrc.htm> He died on Nov 1 1891 in Shickshinny, Luzerne Co., PA.(7238) <fowsrc.htm> In his early life, he was a boatman on the Pennsylvania Canal, later joining his brother, Charles, in the provisions business. He also served several years as Postmaster. He enlisted in the 149th Pennsylvania Volunteers in 1862 and served as orderly in Company F under Colonel Dwight. He was wounded at Gettysburg and was captured and taken prisoner at the Battle of the Wilderness. He was promoted to Captain while yet in prison and later was again promoted to Major. After the war, he was elected Justice of the Peace and was in the real-estate business at Shickshinny, PA.

HILL 150th PA vols

Archibald Hill (425) was born 21 Dec 1831 at the Hill homestead in Fairfield Township, Crawford County, Pennsylvania. He is a son of Timothy Hill (83) <THILL83.html> and Sarah Montgomery (84) <THILL83.html>. He apparently was apprenticed to N.G. Wiser to learn carpentry since he is listed as living with the Wiser family in the 1850 Census. He apparently moved west before 1860 (he does not appear in the 1860 Census in Pennsylvania).

Archibald lived in Kingston, Iowa when he joined the army. He enlisted 20 September 1861 in Company D, 12th Regiment Iowa Volunteer Infantry at Cedar Rapids. Company D, 12th Iowa was mustered 26 October 1861 for a term of three years at Dubuque, Iowa by CPT E.C. Washington, US Army. At the time of his enlistment, Archibald was 29 years old, had a light complexion, red hair, brown eyes, stood five feet 8 3/4 inches tall, and was a carpenter by occupation.

(See <CivilWarHills.html>[image: image1.wmf] <CivilWarHills.html>for information on the 12th Iowa Volunteer Infantry Regiment)

On 28 November 1861 the 12th Iowa traveled to Benton Barracks, St. Louis, Missouri, where it received military training. After training, the 12th Iowa was sent to Fort Henry where it joined a force intended to attack the fort. Due to the impassible condition of the roads, the troops did not arrive until after the fort's surrender.

On the 12th of February 1862, the 12th Iowa was ordered to Gen U.S. Grant's army attacking Fort Donelson, where it arrived the same day. The 12th Iowa took part in the action leading to the unconditional surrender of the fort.

The second military action for the 12th Iowa was in April at Pittsburg Landing, Tennessee. The battle later was named for a little church nearby: Shiloh.

At Shiloh, the 12th Iowa Regiment fought in the "Hornet's nest" in the center of the Union lines. This group withstood the rebel advance for six hours, but in the end were surrounded and surrendered, 2200 men, including Archibald. The Confederates won the first day's battle, but Union reinforcements under Gen Buell arriving on the 7th ensured a final Union victory.

Archibald and the other prisoners taken at Shiloh were initially imprisoned in Corinth, Mississippi.,then taken to Tuscaloosa, Alabama on 16 April then to Montgomery, Alabama on 15 May. Archibald was among the prisoners paroled on 22 May in Montgomery and released at Bellefont Station on 28 May. From there they went to Benton Barracks, Missouri. Archibald left the parole camp about 20 September 1862 and went to Cochranton, PA, where he fell ill. He was reported as sick and unfit for duty by Surgeons Certificate March 1863.

Archibald was reported as a deserter on 24 April 1863. He was arrested 14 September 1863 at McGregor, Iowa, where he had apparently been living with his sister Mary Hill Turner (511) <MHill511.html> and brother-in-law, N.C. Turner (521) <MHill511.html>. He remained under arrest until 25 December 1863 when he reenlisted as a veteran volunteer. The 12th Iowa reassembled 29 March 1863 at Benton Barracks, and on 9 April was assigned to the 3rd Brigade, 3rd Division, 15th Army Corps commanded by Sherman. The 12th Iowa subsequently participated in the Vicksburg campaign.

On 25 December 1863, along with 297 others, Archibald reenlisted <AHill425Reenlistment1.html> for 3 years and the 12th Iowa was remustered as a veteran unit on 5 January 1864 and given a 30 day furlough on 22 March 1864 at Davenport, Iowa.

On 13-15 July in a battle at Tupelo, Mississippi where the 12th lost 64 killed and wounded out of a total brigade loss of 197. On 1 September 1864, Archibald was detailed to the Quarter Master Department, First Division, 16th Army Corps and was sent to the US Army Hospital in Paducah, Kentucky on 19 November 1864. He apparently remained in the hospital until he was furloughed 12 March 1865.

Archibald died 6 April 1865 in Cochranton, Crawford County, Pennsylvania of chronic diarrhea while home on furlough. The following Sunday, Palm Sunday, 9 April 1865, Lee surrendered at Appomattox.

Archibald is buried in Conneaut Cemetery <../Conneaut%20Cemetery/pages/ArchibaldHill425.htm>, Fairfield Township, Crawford County, Pennsylvania, between his grandfather Archibald (210) and his brother John (424). His headstone reads "Hill, Archibald, d. Apr. 6, 1865, aged 33 yrs., 3 mos., 15 ds. Co. D, 12th Regt., Iowa Vet. Volunteers".

FOR ANDREA


The snow was falling ever gently, but fell upon us steadly.  

the flakes clung to your cheek, as a gentle breeze sailed between us.

How does one say goodbye without saying so with words?

How does one express his grief when he must part from someone he yerns to be with?

The lost words of a wise saying goes:


"The soul that can speak with its eyes can also kiss with a gaze."

When i look at your eyes, i'm captivated. 

And there is no way to escape it,

all those around me disapear, and nothing will distract me.

There is so much that goes unsaid, that i say to you when you stare back at me.

Sometimes when you look back, it's almost like you know what i want to say.

But to stand so close to you, and be ordered to stand firm is something soo cruel.

There is nothing more beautiful about you then seeing you in a happy state.

So i leave it at this, and just dream about the rest.

So i see you standing with me, alone in the cold.

Another dream, another unsaid statement I withheld.

I stuggle to move forth, knowing that the love is with someone else.

So knowing that, to love another will never be full hearted by my part because i'm already in love.

To write this is extremely hard.  The truth will never be exposed in text or in a verbal manner.

It can only be seen and felt.  

So there you stand, and here i walk away from you.  

I hope one day, I wont have to bid a farewell to you.

Instead, bid a hello that lasts longer then a weekend.

Something you should know, you have the key to my heart.

to move own is hard to do especially when knowing that what i truely want is you.  

To see the opperunity to tell you what i think about you arises, i let lose, and my feelings come pouring out.

When you allow me to tell you your beautiful, thats when i cant control it.

I dont know what you feel, or if you just enjoy hearing the compliments and knowing that there is a crush.

You are held at fault, yes you.  But that isnt a bad thing.  Its our secret.
GOOD SHOT MCNEIL

During the battle of South Mountain, the Rebels held a very strong position. They were posted in a mountain pass, and had infantry on the heights on every side. Our men were compelled to carry the place by storm. The position seemed impregnable.
A band of Rebels occupied a ledge on the extreme right, as the Colonel approached with a few of his men. The unseen force poured upon them a volley. Col. Hugh McNeil, on the instant, gave the command:"Pour your fire upon those rocks!"
The Bucktails hesitated, it was not an order they were accustomed to receive; they had always picked their men.
"Fire!" thundered the Colonel; "I tell you to fire on those rocks!"
The men obeyed. For some time an irregular fire was kept up, the Bucktails sheltering themselves, as best they could, behind trees and rocks. On a sudden McNeil caught sight of two rebels peering through an opening in the works to get aim. The eyes of the men followed their commander, and half a dozen rifles were levelled in that direction. 
"Wait a minute," said the Colonel;"I will try my hand. There is nothing like killing two birds with one stone."
The two rebels were not in line, but one stood a little distance back of the other, while just in front of the foremost was a slanting rock. Col. McNeil seized a rifle, raised it, glanced a moment along the polished barrel; a report followed, and both the rebels disappeared. At that moment a loud cheer a little distance beyond rent the air.
"All is right now," cried the Colonel;"charge the rascals."
The men sprang up among the rocks in an instant. The affrighted rebels turned to run, but encountered another body of the Bucktails and were obliged to surrender. Not a man of them escaped. Every one saw the object of the Colonel's order to fire at random among the rocks. He had sent a party around to the rear, and meant thus to attract their attention. It was a perfect success.
The two rebels by the opening in the ledge were found lying there stiff and cold. Col. McNeil's bullet had struck the slanting rock in front of them, glanced, and passed through both their heads. There it lay beside them, flattened. The Colonel picked it up, and put it in his pocket. 

Anecdotes, Poetry and Incidents of the War: North and South, 1860-1865
Frank Moore, editor 

NOTE: Col. Hugh W. McNeil commanded the 13th Pennsylvania Reserves (1st Rifles) at the Battle of South Mountain. Col. McNeil was killed days later at Antietam.

RUTTER 143rd MEDAL OF HONOR STUFF

James M. Rutter
Gettysburg, PA
07/01/63

A GRAVE FOR A PILLOW

	 SERGEANT JAMES M. RUTTER of Company C, One-hundred and forty- third Pennsylvania Infantry, describes his experience on the  battlefield of July 1, 1868, thus:  " After being in the great fight at Gettysburg from 11 o'clock in  the morning until four in the afternoon, my regiment, the one- hundred and forty-third Pennsylvania Infantry, was ordered to  fall back as we were being surrounded or flanked.  The Eleventh  Corps had been routed previously, leaving our brigade, with the  Sixth Wisconsin, to cover the retreat.  " Lieutenant Kropp of our company called out that it would not do  to abandon Captain Reichard, who had been shot during the  retreat, and asked for volunteers to take him off the field.  No  one responded.  I could not bear to see the captain left to his  fate, so I jumped up-we were all lying down and firing at the  rebels in the railroad cut opposite-and started for him, calling  back that I would attempt the task.  It was on the Chambersburg  Pike, about twenty feet in front of the firing line, that Captain  Reichard lay.  " When I reached his side, I asked him if he could walk and he  answered:  'Yes.'  I lifted him up and started back to the  company.  The Minies sang like bees around our heads.  There was  a high fence in the rear of our line of battle, which gave me  some trouble, but Sergeant Marcy took the butt of his gun and  knocked the two top rails down.  It seemed as if the rebels had  made a target of the captain and myself, and seconds were like  hours, as the captain and I finally passed over the fence and  along the rear of the firing line.  After a few minutes, having  gained a little hill, I thought all danger was past, but I was  mistaken, for I got in between the fire of the rebel batteries  and our own near the seminary.  As I walked along with Reichard,  a comrade of my company, George Tucker, walked beside me without  his hat, the blood running down his face.  I asked him where he  was hit, hut he would not answer and instead turned now and then  and started towards the rebels.  I would call him back and tell  him not to go that way, or he would be captured.  Then he would  turn and come back to me like a child.  I soon saw that a ball  had parted his hair in the middle, and that his brain had been  affected.  " After passing  our own batteries, which were being made ready  to limber up, I had little trouble in getting into the town,  where I left the captain in a private house, and where Tucker  disappeared.  They both turned up all right, however, and later  rejoined the company.  " After getting Captain Reichard over the fence, near the  Chambers-burg Pike and McPherson's barn, Lieutenant Kropp  immediately detailed George Kindred to help me carry Reichard to  the rear.  I expected to see an ambulance or stretcher there, but  not one was to be found, nor did I see one, until I got into  Gettysburg.  After leaving Reichard in the private house, I saw  one or two of our soldiers running ahead of me.  I asked them why  they were running so hurriedly and they exclaimed:  'Look  back  and you'll find out !'  " Sure enough, there were the Johnnies right onto me.  'No Libby  Prison for me!' I thought, and I ran a race down an alley,  through fields, and at last came up to the old cemetery, where  the whole runaway Eleventh Corps was massed.  I slept that night  in the cemetery, with a grave for a pillow, and never slept  sounder.  I supposed that I would have trouble finding the  balance of the Old First Corps, but a staff officer informed me  that they were right down under the hill, and there I found my  regiment and answered the roll which was being called.  " Lieutenant Kropp was glad to see me.  He had not expected to  see the captain or myself alive again."   Source:  Deeds of Valor, p. 219 


THOMAS CHAMBERLIN by DREESE

AN OBSCURE HERO 

Michael Dreese
Bucknell’s Thomas Chamberlin distinguished
himself at the Battle of Gettysburg.
Throughout our nation’s history, certain names have become synonymous with great events, while others who played equally important roles have been relegated to obscurity.
For example, relatively few Bucknell students and alumni are familiar with the distinguished Civil War service of Thomas Chamberlin, Class of 1858. In fact, his exploits are familiar to only a handful of military and local history scholars. Conversely, Michael Shaara’s 1974 Pulitzer Prize-winning novel, The Killer Angels, transformed Joshua Lawrence Chamberlain, a relatively unknown Civil War officer, into a national icon. Chamberlain became a household name and a true cult hero after the release of Gettysburg, a motion picture based on Shaara’s book. This popularity has fueled a number of biographies and art prints, and Joshua’s likeness appears on all types of souvenir items.
Chamberlain, however, was an atypical warrior. When the Civil War erupted, he was a professor at his alma mater, Bowdoin College, in Brunswick, Maine, where he taught rhetoric, oratory and modern languages. A natural scholar, Joshua spoke seven languages. But, when President Abraham Lincoln called for 300,000 additional troops to put down the Southern rebellion in the late summer of 1862, the 33-year-old professor answered the call.
Taking advantage of a sabbatical, Chamberlain joined the 20th Maine Infantry in September. In the spring of 1863, he became its colonel. From the very beginning, the raw recruits of the 20th idolized their commander. Their unbounded faith in his intelligence, judgment and acquired military skill was well founded. Chamberlain earned the Medal of Honor for his courageous leadership on July 2, 1863, at the Battle of Gettysburg. With fewer than 400 men, Chamberlain played a key role in the defense of Little Round Top, the extreme left flank of the Federal position.
After three colorbearers had been shot down,
he hoisted the regimental flag
to help rally the men.
By the close of the war, Joshua had risen to the rank of major general, and he was given the honor of commanding the troops that formally accepted the surrender of Lee’s army at Appomattox.
In fact, the Civil War nearly cost Chamberlain his life, as he was wounded four times. On one occasion, a surgeon declared that he would certainly die from the effects of a severe gunshot wound that tore through his body from the right thigh to the left hip. Chamberlain survived and was later elected governor of his native Maine four times.
Perhaps Chamberlain’s cult-hero status is well deserved, but it is truly unfortunate that the deeds and sacrifices of thousands of other men, who also fought to preserve the Union, remain unheralded. A case in point is the military service of Lewisburg’s own Thomas Chamberlin.
Besides their nearly identical surnames, Thomas Chamberlin and Joshua Chamberlain shared a number of similarities. Like his Maine counterpart, Chamberlin was an exceptional student. Born on a farm a few miles outside of the borough, he attended the academic department of the University at Lewisburg at the tender age of 14 and graduated with high honors in 1858. After serving as the superintendent of an academy in Mifflin County for seven months, he traveled to Germany, where he studied law and philosophy at the universities of Heidelberg and Berlin.
Holding the salient of the line near the
Edward McPherson farm, the 150th faced
attacks from two different directions, and
the regiment suffered heavy casualties.
When armed conflict between the North and South appeared imminent in early 1861, Chamberlin returned to Lewisburg. After the firing on Fort Sumter in April, he recruited a company of men known as the “Slifer Guards,” which was officially designated as Company D, 5th Pennsylvania Reserves, and became
its captain.
Similar to Joshua Chamberlain and his early popularity with the 20th Maine, Thomas Chamberlin quickly earned the approbation of the soldiers under his command. A fellow officer marveled, “Dignified in his bearing, yet uniformly kind and affable, his men approached him with a respect amounting almost to reverence, and yet without that fear which the austere manners of many officers inspired. ... [H]e secured both their unequivocal obedience and generous affections.”
Even before Joshua Chamberlain enlisted in the Union army, Captain Thomas Chamberlin had already proved his mettle in combat. The 5th Reserves participated in the Peninsula Campaign in the spring of 1862 with General George B. McClellan and the Army of the Potomac. In late June, Chamberlin and his men fought at the battles of Mechanicsville, Beaver Dam Creek, Gaines Mill and Glendale.
During the latter action, Chamberlin exhibited conspicuous gallantry. After three colorbearers had been shot down, he hoisted the regimental flag to help rally the men. Soon thereafter, a bullet struck him in the left leg just below the knee. The blow fractured the leg bone and immobilized the brave captain. When Union forces retired, Chamberlin was left on the field and was captured by the enemy.
After a brief stay in Libby Prison, Chamberlin was sent north. While recuperating in a Baltimore hospital in early September, he was offered the rank of major in the newly formed 150th Pennsylvania Volunteers. He eagerly accepted.
Both the climactic moment in the history of the 150th and the consummation of Chamberlin’s military career took place during the opening day of fighting at Gettysburg on July 1, 1863. Despite being heavily outnumbered, the Federal advance guard bought the time necessary for the remainder of the Army of the Potomac, including Joshua Chamberlain’s 20th Maine, to arrive and secure the strategic high ground south of the town.
Holding the salient of the line near the Edward McPherson farm, the 150th faced attacks from two different directions, and the regiment suffered heavy casualties. Among the severely wounded was Thomas Chamberlin. In his own words: “At about quarter to three o’clock, while changing our regimental front from north to west to meet a new attack, I received a dangerous wound through the right shoulder and back, the ball grazing the spine, passing under the shoulder blade and chipping the collarbone, beneath which it was lodged. ... Our brigade surgeon, Dr. Riemer, happening to visit the McPherson house next morning, kindly cut the ball from my shoulder, giving me great relief.”
But unlike Joshua Chamberlain, Thomas Chamberlin was never able to completely return to active duty. Finally, on March 15, 1864, he resigned his commission. Only nine days earlier, he had received a promotion to lieutenant colonel. Chamberlin’s adjustment back to civilian life was successful, if not as illustrious as Chamberlain’s postwar career. He entered the insurance business and eventually settled in Philadelphia.
Both men were constantly plagued by their war wounds, and their deaths were hastened by the ac-companying physical debilities. Joshua Chamberlain passed away on Feb. 24, 1914, at age 85, and Thomas Chamberlin died almost exactly three years later on Feb. 22, less than a month before his 78th birthday. Chamberlin and his wife, Frances, are buried in the Lewisburg Cemetery.
The two veterans left behind well-received accounts of their military service. Near the turn of the century, Thomas Chamberlin authored History of the One Hundred and Fiftieth Regiment Pennsylvania Volunteers, which has been recognized as one of the best regimental histories ever written by a veteran. Characteristically, Chamberlin modestly wrote that his book was simply “a labor of love ... [which] aims to be a faithful presentation of the truth.” Joshua Chamberlain was more poetic and introspective in his numerous writings. He once wrote: “In great deeds something abides ... on great fields something stays ... and reverent men and women from ... generations that know us not and that we know not of ... shall come to ponder and dream.”
